#### Université de Montréal

Assessment of Bioaccumulation, Histopathology Damage and Neuro-behavioral Status in Portacaval Anastomosis Rats Exposed to Manganese Phosphate Dust: A Pilot Study

> par Fariba Salehi

Département de santé environnementale et santé au travail Faculté de Médecine

Mémoire présenté à la Faculté des études supérieures en vue de l'obtention du grade de Maître ès sciences (M.Sc.) en santé environnementale et santé au travail

> Décembre 2000 © Fariba Salehi, 2000



2011.2853.00

The result de Manuel

A semiment of Bioneonunclation, Richopathology, Damage and Neutro helice on al Stream in Portacional Austrimania Toxal Excessed to Management Programm Dama A. Filor Study

> W 4 N58 2001 N.054

Memora presente à la Paralle des étuées sarétourres en vise de l'obtenierla grant de Malton en sone ces (M.ScD. de suité menéorie antiche sone de Station et sone de Sco



December 2007

Université de Montréal Faculté des études supérieures

Ce mémoire intitulé :

"Assessment of Bioaccumulation, Histopathology Damage and Neuro-behavioral Status in Portacaval Anastomosis Rats Exposed to Manganese Phosphate Dust: A Pilot Study"

> Présenté par: Fariba Salehi

A été évalué par un jury composé des personnes suivantes:

Dr. Robert Tardif Dr. Joseph Zayed Dr. Ginette Truchon président-rapporteur directeur de recherche membre du jury

Mémoire accepté le:

#### Abstract

The use of the additive methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl in unleaded gasoline has resulted in increased attention to the potential toxic effects of manganese (Mn). Hypothetically, people with chronic liver disease may be more sensitive to the adverse neurotoxic effects of Mn. In this work, bioaccumulation of Mn, as well as histopathology and neurobehavioral damage in end-to-side portacaval anastomosis (PCA) rats exposed to Mn phosphate via inhalation was investigated.

The week before the PCA operation, four weeks after the PCA operation and at the end of exposure, the rats were subjected to a locomotor evaluation (day-night activities) using a computerized autotrack system. Then a group of six PCA rats (E) was exposed to 3050 µg m<sup>-3</sup> (Mn phosphate) for 8 hr/day, 5 days/week for 4 consecutive weeks and compared to a control group (C). Another group of seven PCA rats were exposed to 0.03 µg m<sup>-3</sup>. After exposure rats were then euthanaized and Mn content in tissues and organs was determined by neutron activation analysis.

The manganese concentrations in blood (0.05  $\mu$ g/g vs 0.02  $\mu$ g/g), lung (1.32  $\mu$ g/g vs 0.24  $\mu$ g/g), cerebellum (0.85  $\mu$ g/g vs 0.64  $\mu$ g/g), frontal cortex (0.87  $\mu$ g/g vs 0.61  $\mu$ g/g) and globus pallidus (3.56  $\mu$ g/g vs 1.33  $\mu$ g/g) are significantly higher in the exposed group compared to the control group (p< 0.05). No difference was observed in liver, kidney, testes and caudate putamen between the two groups. Neuronal cell loss was assessed by neuronal cell counts. The loss of cells in globus pallidus and caudate putamen in E was significant (p < 0.01) as

well as in frontal cortex was significantly higher (p < 0.05). Assessment of the locomotor activities did not reveal any significant difference, although E seems to show higher values than C. This study constitutes a first step towards our understanding of the potential adverse effects of Mn in sensitive populations.

**Key words:** Manganese phosphate, inhalation, Mn bioaccumulation in different organs and tissues, histopatolgical damage of brain, neurological status analysis, portocaval anastomosis rats, and Sprague-Dawley rats.

v

# **Table of Contents**

Abstractiii
Key words v
Table of Contents
List of Tablesviii
List of Figuresix
Abbreviationsx
Acknowledgementsxi
CHAPTER I - Introduction
1.1 Methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl
1.1.1 Combustion products of MMT
1.1.2 Physical and chemical properties of MMT and combustion products
1.2 Sources and level of manganese in the air
1.3 Toxicokinetics of Manganese7
1.4 Toxicity and health effects of Mn10
1.4.1 Neurotoxicity
1.4.2 Pulmonary toxicity
1.4.3 Reproductive and developmental toxicity
1.4.4 Specific observation in animal models14
1.4.5 Specific observation in human with liver disease
1.5 Methods for reducing toxic effects of Mn15
1.6 Objectives of this study 17

CHAPTER II - Manuscript submitted to review '' Hepatology 'Assessment of					
Bioaccumulation, Histopathology Damage and Neuro-behavioral Status in Portacaval					
Anastomosis Rats Exposed to Manganese Phosphate Dust: A Pilot Study					
Abstract21					
INTRODUCTION					
MATERIALS AND METHODS					
Rationale for the choice of animal model26					
Inhalation exposure27					
Locomotor activity, day/night rhythms					
Tissue Mn concentrations					
Chemical analysis					
Biochemical profile					
Histological evaluation					
Statistical analysis					
RESULTS					
DISCUSSION					
Acknowledgments					
REFERENCES					
List of figures					
CHAPTER III - Discussion and Conclusion					
Discussion					
Conclusion					
BIBLIOGRAPHY					

# List of Tables

Table 1-1. Physical and chemical properties of Mn, MMT and combustion products	5
Table 1 Mn particle size in the inhalation chamber	4
Table 2 Tissue Mn concentrations 4	5
Table 3 Biochemical parameters	6

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Locomotor activity (distance traveled in cm, Mean $\pm$ SD) for 12-hour dark period					
and 12-hour light period					
Figure 2 Resting time (sec, Mean $\pm$ SD) for 12-hour dark period and 12-hour light period 48					
Figure 3 Number of neuronal cells in globus pallidus, caudate putamen and frontal cortex					
(Mean ± SD)					
Figure 4 Neuronal cell in the globus palidus					

# Abbreviations

INAA	Instrumental Neutron Activation Analysis		
MMT	Methylcyclopentadienyl Manganese Tricarbonyl		
Mn	Manganese		
RfC	Reference Concentration		
U.S.EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency		

## Acknowledgements

The work presented in this thesis owes a significant debt to a number of individuals to whom I would like to express my most sincere gratitude. Thanks first of all to my director Dr. Joseph Zayed for his support and guidance throughout this work.

Many thanks to Dr. Gaètan Carrier for his involvement in statistic analysis and also thanks to all my teachers Dr. Michel Gérin, Dr. Claude Viau and Dr. Robert Tardif.

Many thanks to the numerous fantastic members of the department of Environmental and Occupational Health over course of my study.

Finally, my special thanks to my husband Mehdi for his love, support, patience and understanding during my study.

All I have done is because of God help, blessing of my father Mohammad and my mother Tahereh, and love and support of my husband Mehdi and my kids Nazanin and Nivad.

# **CHAPTER I -Introduction**

#### 1.1 Methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl

Methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT, C<sub>9</sub>H<sub>7</sub>MnO<sub>3</sub>) is a fuel additive developed in the 1950 to increase the octane level of gasoline and therefore to improve the antiknock properties of the fuel (Davis, 1998). Exposure to MMT is expected to be primarily through inhalation or oral pathways, although occupational exposure for gasoline attendants or mechanics will be more significant via dermal absorption. From the time of its introduction in Canada in 1976, the use of MMT increased substantially until it completely replaced tetraethyl lead in gasoline in 1990 (Hurley *et al.*, 1992). Indeed, Canada is the only country where MMT is used almost exclusively.

In the United Stated, EPA denied Ethyl waiver for the use of MMT until October 1995, when a court decision allowed the company to offer it for sale to refiners for use in unleaded gasoline (Wallace and Slonecker 1997). In 1997 the Canadian government adopted a law (C-29) that banned both the inter provincial trade and the importation for commercial purposes of manganese-based substances, including MMT. MMT is now approved for use in Argentina, Australia, Bulgaria, the United States, France, Russia and conditionally in New Zealand. Nevertheless, these countries are not yet using MMT and they are waiting for strong evidence of the absence of effects on human health. The concentration of MMT approved by the EPA is 31.25 mg of Mn per gallon of gasoline. Usually, 72 mg of MMT, containing 18 mg of Mn, could be added to each liter of gasoline. But the Canadian mean of Mn is approximately 10 mg L<sup>-1</sup>. However, a recent study shows that Mn and MMT concentrations found in the MMT-added gasoline are respectively 6.5 mg L<sup>-1</sup> and 25.8 mg L<sup>-1</sup> (Zayed *et al.*, 1998).

2

The amount of Mn emitted from the tailpipe of a vehicle varies between 7% and 45% of the Mn consumed, depending on the driving cycle and the type of vehicle. The fraction not emitted to the atmosphere appears to accumulate in the engine (Ardeleanu *et al.*, 1999). Many studies have established relations between traffic density and Mn concentrations in the biotic and abiotic components of ecosystem (Loranger *et al.*, 1996). Nevertheless, exposure of the general population to Mn emanating from MMT seems to be negligible compared to the contribution of the Mn from other industrial and natural sources (Loranger and Zayed, 1997). However, experience with lead in gasoline demonstrated that significant widespread exposure of the general population may occur by adding relatively small amounts of a substance to gasoline (Davis *et al.*, 1996).

#### 1.1.1 Combustion products of MMT

MMT is extremely unstable in light and degrades very quickly in air. Therefore, exposures via gasoline exhausts are likely to be more to the oxidative products of MMT. It is now well accepted that the combustion products of MMT are essentially Mn phosphate, Mn sulfate and a mixture of Mn phosphate / Mn sulfate (Zayed *et al.*, 1999). In fact, it was shown that the frequency of Mn Oxide was only 2% as opposed to 8% for Mn phosphate, 16% for Mn sulfate, and 54% for mixture of Mn phosphate and Mn sulfate. The combustion products of MMT depend on fuel composition, engine and catalytic converter thermodynamics. Modern automobiles equipped with catalytic converters emit mainly the manganese phosphate form and smaller amounts of sulfates and oxides (Lynam *et al.*, 1999).

It was found that Mn is emitted from the tailpipe primarily as a mixture of Mn phosphate and Mn sulfate with particle sizes ranging between 0.2 and 10  $\mu$ m (Zayed *et al.*, 1994). On average, more than 99 % of Mn particles are in the respirable fraction (< 5  $\mu$ m) and 86 % were less than 1  $\mu$ m (Ardeleanu *et al.*, 1999). Then Mn particles have a higher probability of reaching the alveolar region.

# 1.1.2 Physical and chemical properties of MMT and combustion products

MMT is an organic derivative of Mn produced by Ethyl Corporation and marketed as AK-33X (antiknock agent-33X) or HiTec 3000 (Jaques, 1987). MMT is a yellow, volatile liquid that has a very low vapor pressure at room temperature (0.05mmHg@20°C) and is completely miscible in gasoline and very slightly soluble in water. MMT decomposes rapidly to manganese oxide, CO and unidentified organic compounds, in air in the presence of sunlight with a half-life about 15 seconds (Garrison *et al.*, 1995), and with an herbal odor.

Table 1.1 lists the physical and chemical properties of MMT, manganese phosphate and manganese sulfate. Although the oxidation states of Mn range from 0 to +7, the most stable oxidation state is +2. Inorganic Mn compounds are not volatile, but they can exist in the air as aerosols or suspended particulate matter.

4

Property	Manganese	MMT <sup>a</sup>	Manganese phosphate <sup>b</sup>	Manganese sulfate <sup>a</sup>
Chemical formula	Mn	C <sub>9</sub> H <sub>7</sub> MnO <sub>3</sub>	Mn <sub>5</sub> (PO <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> (PO <sub>3</sub> (OH)) <sub>2</sub>	MnSO <sub>4</sub>
Molecular weight	54.94	218.09	656.59	151
Boiling point (°C)	1962	233		Decomposes at 850
Melting point (°C)	1244	1.5		700
Solubility	Decomposes	Soluble in water	Insoluble in water	Soluble

Table 1-1. Physical and chemical properties of Mn, MMT and combustion products

a source: adapted from the doctorate theses of Loranger (1994)

<sup>b</sup> source: adapted from paper report of Material Safety Data Sheet, Alfa Aesar

# 1.2 Sources and level of manganese in the air

The main sources of Mn are industrial emissions associated with ferroalloy production, iron and steel foundries, and power plant and coke oven combustion emissions (Lioy, 1983). Wind erosion of dusts and soils is another important source of atmospheric Mn. Mn is also present in MMT as octane-enhancing fuel additive used in unleaded automotive gasoline. One of the main sources of inorganic Mn contamination in the urban environment is the combustion of MMT, particularly in areas with high traffic density (Joselow *et al.*, 1978).

Although the possibility exists for increased atmospheric Mn concentration to occur with widespread MMT use, actual air Mn concentration from Canadian cities in which MMT has been widely used for over 10 years remain below the inhalation reference

concentration (0.05µg Mn/m<sup>3</sup>) for respirable Mn set by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). The U.S. EPA calculated a reference concentration (RfC) based on changes in neuropsychological tests (finger tapping, hand steadiness) in an occupational study by Roels (1992).

Mn levels in air are highly variable. According to data summarized by EPA, 80% of U.S. sites assessed have Mn levels well below  $0.1 \ \mu g/m^3$ , and only 4.7% have levels above 0.3  $\mu g/m^3$  (EPA, 1995). Higher ambient levels, up to 5.0 or even 10.0  $\mu g/m^3$  occur near industrial point sources, such as steel plants. Mn levels in certain workplace environments such as garages are affected by the use of MMT in gasoline, as recent Canadian data demonstrate. A recent study in Montreal shows that blue-collar workers are exposed to Mn levels of 0.04  $\mu g/m^3$ , while garage mechanics are exposed to 0.43  $\mu g/m^3$  (Sierra *et al.*, 1995). The estimated lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) was 150 $\mu g$  Mn/m<sup>3</sup>, and this concentration was adjusted for nonoccupational lifetime exposure and an uncertainty factor (1000) to yield an RfC of 0.05 $\mu g$  Mn/m<sup>3</sup>.

The average atmospheric Mn concentrations measured in a high traffic area in Montreal were 0.05 and 0.024  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup> for total and respirable fractions, respectively (Loranger and Zayed, 1997; Zayed *et al.*, 1999b). In specific environment, such as house near highway, atmospheric Mn concentration could be higher than RfC (Zayed *et al.*, 1999b). For comparison, the average levels of Mn in ambient air in urban and nonurban areas in the United States during a time when MMT was not in use (i.e., in 1982) were 0.033 and 0.005  $\mu$ g/m<sup>3</sup>, respectively (ATSDR, 1999).

#### 1.3 Toxicokinetics of Manganese

Limited data are available on the retention and absorption of inhaled particles of Mn. In general, the extent of inhalation absorption is a function of particles size, since size determines the extent and location of particle deposition in the respiratory tract. Particles that are deposited in the lower airway are probably mainly absorbed, while particles deposited in the upper airways may be moved by mucociliary transport to the throat, where they are swallowed and entered the stomach. Thus Mn may be absorbed both from the lungs and in the gastrointestinal tract following inhalation of Mn dust (ATSDR, 1999). Since the solubility of inhaled Mn compounds is poor systemic absorption is restricted to a portion of Mn particles that reach the alveoli and are transferred to the stomach by mucociliary transport. Homeostatic mechanisms control the absorption of Mn from the gut and therefore, the amount of Mn absorbed depends on the amount ingested as well as the existing Mn concentrations.

Tjälve (1996) investigated the uptake of Mn in brain regions of weanling male Sprague-Dawley rats following intranasal administration of 4  $\mu$ g/kg Mn. The whole body autoradiography of the rats at different time points revealed that the olfactory bulb contained the vast majority of measured Mn at 1, 3, and 7 days post-dosing (90, 69, and 47%, respectively) with values decreasing to a low of 16% at 12 weeks. Significant uptake of Mn by other brain regions was not observed until the third day, when the basal forebrain, cerebral cortex, hypothalamus, and striatum had 21, 2, 3, and 1% of the measured label, respectively. By contrast, liver and kidneys, each contained approximately 1% of measured Mn at 1, 3, and 7 days with values decreasing consistently to 12 weeks (Tjälve *et al.*, 1996).

7

Roels measured Mn levels in blood following intranasal administration of 1.22 mgMn/kg as either MnCl<sub>2</sub> or MnO<sub>2</sub>. Mn levels in blood following MnCl<sub>2</sub> dosing reached a maximal of 68% increase, but an increase of only 41% following exposure to MnO<sub>2</sub>. Further, following Mn levels were significantly increased over control levels in the cerebellum, striatum, and cortex, with the striatum containing the highest level of Mn (Roels *et al.*, 1997). These data indicate that Mn is more readily absorbed via inhalation in a more soluble chemical form.

Low-protein and iron-deficiency increase the absorption of Mn, whereas increased calcium and phosphorus levels decreases Mn absorption (Murphy *et al.*, 1991). There is some evidence to suggest that Mn absorption is age-dependent. Infants, especially premature infants, retain a higher proportion of Mn than adults (Dorner *et al.*, 1989).

Occupational exposure to high concentrations of Mn or decreased excretion of Mn due to hepatic failure influences its distribution in the central nervous system (Layrargues *et al.*, 1995). Individuals with impaired clearance of Mn resulting from liver dysfunction or portal systemic shunting show increase of Mn concentration in blood. The magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was used to indicate the increase in Mn absorption (Hauser *et al.*, 1996).

The average 70-kg man carries a total body burden of about 12 to 20 mg of Mn. Mn is rapidly cleared from the plasma, with a half-life of 1.3 to 2.2 minutes (Cotzias *et al.*, 1968). Accumulation of Mn occurs in the brain when absorption exceeds from excretion.

Manganese-dependent proteins play an important role in the production of certain neurotransmitters. Eighty percent of the  $Mn^{+2}$  in the brain is associated with the manganoprotein glutamine synthetase, which synthesizes glutamine. The concentration of glutamine synthetase is particularly high in glial cells, which synthesize glutamine for subsequent conversion to glutamate and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) in neuronal cells (Wedler and Denman, 1985). Other manganese-dependent enzymes include pyruvate carboxylase and phosphophenol pyruvate carboxykinase. The acute extrapyramidal effects of Mn may involve the irreversible oxidation of dopamine to a cyclized ortho-quinone, resulting in a temporary decrease in brain levels of dopamine. The chronic effects of Mn poisoning have been attributed to the generation of free radicals and cell death via apoptosis (Segura-Aguilar and Lind, 1989).

The  $\beta$ -globulin, transmanganin, transports part of the Mn in the trivalent form to tissue stores. Additionally, some transport of the divalent forms of Mn bound to  $\alpha$ -macroglobulin also occurs. The highest concentration of Mn appears in the liver followed by the pancreas and the pituitary gland. Little accumulation of Mn occurs on the body with a majority of an average body burden of 8 mg distributed between muscle and the liver (Sumino *et al.*, 1975). Mn content in brain tissues normally averages 1 to 2 mg/g dry weight, with greater concentration found in adults than in infants (Prohaska, 1987). The distribution of Mn in the brain is not influenced by route of intake (Newland *et al.*, 1989). Free Mn is normally distributed throughout the grey matter of the cerebral cortex and basal ganglia, particularly the caudate nucleus, palladium, and striatum, which have relatively high concentrations of neuromelanin (Olanow *et al.*, 1996).

Mn is excreted in the feces, urine, pancreatic fluid, hair, and breast milk. Excretion of inorganic Mn from the body is rapid and does not require active metabolism; inorganic Mn does not pass through the glucuronidation pathway. Most absorbed inorganic Mn rapidly appears in the bile and feces, a portion undergoes enterohepatic recirculation. Blood levels of Mn are increased in patients with impaired Mn clearance due to liver dysfunction (Hauser *et al.*, 1996). Roels has found differences in Mn concentrations in blood and brain regions depending on the oxidation state of metal (Roels, 1997). The biological half-life in blood ranges from about 12 days in healthy miners to approximately 40 days in healthy volunteers (Mahoney *et Small*, 1968).

Animal studies suggest that renal excretion is small (<0.1 % over 5 day). Following the administration of Mn in rats, some Mn crosses directly from the blood to the bile (Thompson *et al.*, 1982). Experiments in animals indicate that the elimination of Mn from the brain, in particular from the cerebellum, is much slower compared with the whole body (Newland *et al.*, 1989).

## 1.4 Toxicity and health effects of Mn

The two major routes of Mn exposure are ingestion and inhalation. Ingestion, in turn, poses potential exposure from both food and water. Exposure through the respiratory route has a special significance. While ingested Mn is rapidly cleared by the liver, inhaled Mn escapes this mechanism, and may therefore be more bioavailable to the nervous system and other target organs. The implication is that inhaled Mn may be more toxic than ingested Mn (Sandstrom *et al.*, 1986).

Studies in animals and humans indicate that inorganic Mn compounds have very low acute toxicity by any route of exposure. Acute inhalation exposure to high concentrations of Mn dust can cause an inflammatory response in the lung, which can lead to impaired lung function. However, this response is characteristic of nearly all inhalable particulate matter (EPA 1985) and is not dependent on the manganese content of the particle. Acute duration exposure studies in animals exposed to MMT via inhalation, or via a dermal pathway are lacking. The dermal pathway is very important, because MMT in gasoline that may be spilled on the skin could penetrate and become absorbed.

Intermediate-duration inhalation exposure of humans to Mn compounds can lead to central nervous system effects (Rodier 1955). Intermediate-duration inhalation studies in animals have yielded NOAELs or LOAELs values for biochemical and neurobehavioral effects, but the range of exposure levels associated with these effects is too wide to define a threshold. Although neurological effects were observed in animals, symptoms characteristic of Mn toxicity (e.g., ataxia, tremor, etc.) are not typically observed in rodent species. Also other rodent studies reported decreased motor activity (Komura and Sakamoto, 1991), increased activity, aggression (Chandra, 1983) and delayed reflexes (Ali *et al.*, 1983), these effects are not consistent and are observed over a wide dose range.

Studies in humans make clear that the main health effect following chronic inhalation exposure is nervous system toxicity (Mena *et al.*, 1967; Wennberg *et al.*, 1991) although adverse respiratory effects are also seen (Akbar-Khanzadeh, 1993). Exposure to high

11

concentrations of atmospheric Mn can lead to numerous health problems, especially in the respiratory and neurological systems. Chronic human exposure to high concentrations of Mn containing dust (>1mg Mn/m<sup>3</sup>) has been shown to induce adverse neurological, respiratory and reproductive effects (Iregren, 1999). The clinical syndrome of Mn induced neurotoxicity can be divided into an early phase distinguished by marked mood and behavior changes, and a later stage resembling Parkinson disease that is characterized dystonia and severe gait disturbances (Pal *et al.*, 1999).

Certain subpopulations such as patients with chronic liver disease could be more vulnerable to the neurotoxic effects of Mn since they have a decrease in biliary excretion of Mn. Little is known on the potential health effects that may result from long-term continuous exposure of these patients to Mn compounds in ambient air at low concentrations. We hypothesise that a relatively high exposure to Mn may be tolerated by normal animals and humans but may lead to an overload and neurological problems in those with hepatic dysfunction.

#### 1.4.1 Neurotoxicity

The primary target organs following chronic exposure to Mn are the lung and brain. The nervous system is the critical target organ of Mn. The striatum and associated brain structures are important target sites of Mn neurotoxicity in humans. Using brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) techniques, researchers have demonstrated that patients with manganism develop elevated Mn concentrations in their basal ganglia (Nagatomo *et al.*,

1999). Severely affected patients also develop progressive, irreversible loss of dopaminergic neurons in globus pallidus and nigrostriatal pathway (Calne *et al.*, 1994).

High exposure to Mn for long time leading to a classic syndrome known as "manganism." Manganism is characterized by a slow deterioration of neurological function that begins insidiously as non-specific symptoms and subclinical neurological signs. These symptoms include anorexia, apathy, arthralgias, asthenia, headaches, irritability, lethargy, and weakness in the lower extremities. Gradually, dysfunction of the basal ganglia develops that is characterized by alterations of gait, loss of balance, fine tremor, loss of facial expressions, and speech disturbances. Finally, a severe, disabling Parkinson's-like clinical condition develops, characterized by muscle rigidity, a staggering fait, dysphagia and a course intention tremor (Rodier, 1955). It seems that exposure to low level of Mn causes clinically to motor performance and memory. The most consistent findings are impaired function on tasks that require coordinated, sequential, alternating movements at a rapid speed (Mergler *et al.*, 1994).

# 1.4.2 Pulmonary toxicity

Mn is also a pulmonary toxin. Increases in respiratory symptoms, pneumonia and bronchitis have been reported among workers with occupational exposure and in people living near manganese alloy production facilities. In most cases these effects occurred at exposure levels well above what would be expected from MMT use in fuel (EPA, 1994). One study has suggested a possible increase in prevalence of respiratory illnesses in school children residing near a point source of atmospheric Mn pollution (Nogawa *et al.*, 1973).

## 1.4.3 Reproductive and developmental toxicity

Male mice exposed to elevated dietary Mn show decreased size of the testicles, seminal vesicles, and preputial glands, even without frank neurological signs such as tremor and ataxia (Gray and Laskey, 1980). Impotence and loss of libido and also decreased number of children are common symptoms in male workers exposed for 1-19 years to Mn dust (Laskey *et al.*, 1982). One small human study in an isolated island population with high manganese intake, found an apparent excess of fatal malformations (Kilburn, 1987).

# 1.4.4 Specific observation in animal models

Chronic exposure to Mn in rodents has been shown to alter brain dopaminergic neurotransmitters (Eriksson *et al.*, 1987; Rodriguez *et al.*, 1998) and inhibits critical enzymes involved in energy production (Zheng *et al.*, 1998). Mn in rat brain may interact with other essential metal ions and cause oxidative stress in targeted brain areas (Ali *et al.*, 1995; Sloot *et al.*, 1996). Moreover, following exposure to MMT, rodents show significant neuroexcitatory toxicity and altered normetanephrine levels (Fishman *et al.*, 1987; Komura and Sakamoto, 1994).

Studies conducted by our research team have shown that in portacaval anastomosis (PCA) rats not exposed to Mn, Mn content was increased in globus pallidus by 57% and in caudate putamen by 67% compared to a control group. In addition, a marked reduction in activity during the dark period was observed in rats with PCA (Therrien *et al.*, 1995). The relative influence of portal-systemic shunting and cholestasis on Mn accumulation in the brain was determined in rats with chronic liver failure (Rose *et al.*, 1999).

# 1.4.5 Specific observation in human with liver disease

Pallidal signal hyperintensity on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has been observed in most cirrhotic patients (Pujol *et al.*, 1993). Pallidal samples obtained at autopsy from cirrhotic patients who died with hepatic encephalopathy contain up to 7-fold increased Mn content. Similar MRI have been observed in patients receiving Mn as part of longterm parenteral nutrition, and after occupational Mn exposure sufficient to cause Parkinson's-like extra pyramidal symptoms (Nelson *et al.*, 1993). There is a positive correlation between blood Mn, pallidal index (a measure of degree of magnetic resonance) and the presence of portal-systemic shunting in cirrhotic patients (Spahr *et al.*, 1996).

# 1.5 Methods for reducing toxic effects of Mn

When specific exposures have occurred, poison control centers and medical toxicologists should be consulted for medical advice. There is substantial evidence to indicate that an interaction between iron and Mn occurs during intestinal absorption. Low level of iron and calcium as "synergistic factors" that impact on the toxic effects are associated with Mn exposure. In a dietary study investigating the effects of copper, iron, and ascorbate on Mn absorption in rats, these substances were all found to influence Mn absorption, depending in part on their relative concentrations (Johnson and Korynta, 1992). Thus it may be possible to reduce the uptake of Mn and thereby circumvent the potential for toxic effects caused by current and future exposure to excess Mn through specific dietary supplementation. For example, sufficient iron or calcium stores, as opposed to a

deficiency in these or other minerals, may reduce Mn absorption, and thus reduce potential toxicity (ATSDR, 1999).

Reducing body burden is also another method for reducing toxic effects of Mn. Chelation therapy with agents such as EDTA may alleviate some of the neurological signs of manganism, but not all patients show improvement, and some of the improvement may not be permanent. The potential use of calcium disodium ethylenediaminetetracetate (CaNa<sub>2</sub>EDTA) for the management of heavy metal poisoning was investigated in dogs by Ibin *et al.*, (1992). CaNa<sub>2</sub>EDTA-treated dogs (without excess Mn exposure) were found to have decreased Mn levels in their hair. It is possible that CaNa<sub>2</sub>EDTA could adversely affect the metabolism of Mn.

Interfering with the mechanism of action is also a method for reducing toxic effects of Mn. The oxidation state of Mn may influence both its retention in the body and its toxicity. Therefore, it is possible that interference with the oxidation of Mn could be a method for preventing Mn cellular uptake and toxicity. Regarding retention, one study suggests that clearance is much more rapid for divalent Mn than for trivalent Mn (Gibbons *et al.*, 1976). Regarding neurotoxicity, Mn (III) appears to be more efficient in enhancing the oxidation of catechols than either Mn (II) or Mn (IV) (Archibald and Tyree, 1986). Thus it is plausible that reducing the formation of Mn (III) could possibly both enhance elimination and prevent neurotoxicity (ATSDR, 1999).

# **1.6** Objectives of this study

The objective of this pilot study is to assess the inhalation toxicity of Mn in PCA animal model. More specifically, it is to evaluate the effects of Mn exposure on the deposition and bioaccumulation of Mn in different tissues and organs, on histological damage to the brain and on the locomotor activity of rats.

CHAPTER II - Manuscript submitted to review '' Hepatology 'Assessment of Bioaccumulation, Histopathology Damage and Neuro-behavioral Status in Portacaval Anastomosis Rats Exposed to Manganese Phosphate Dust: A Pilot Study

# Assessment of Bioaccumulation and Neurotoxicity in Rats with Portacaval Anastomosis and Exposed to Manganese Phosphate: A Pilot Study

# Short Title: Neurotoxicity of Manganese phosphate

Fariba Salehi<sup>1</sup>, Gaetan Carrier<sup>1</sup>, Louise Normandin<sup>1</sup>, Greg Kennedy<sup>2</sup>, Roger F Butterworth<sup>3</sup>,

Alan Hazell<sup>3</sup>, Guy Therrien<sup>3</sup>, Donna Mergler<sup>4</sup>, Joseph Zayed<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Human Toxicology Research Group and Department of Environmental and Occupational Health <sup>2</sup> École Polytechnique, University of Montreal, P.O. Box 6128, MainStation, Montreal, Quebec, Canada, H3C 3J7. <sup>3</sup>Neuroscience Research Unit, Centre Hospitalier de l'Université de Montréal, Campus Saint-Luc. <sup>4</sup> Centre pour l'étude des intéractions biologiques entre la santé et l'environnement (CINBIOSE) University of Ouebec in Montreal, Montreal, Canada

#### Footnote page

#### For correspondence:

Joseph Zayed, Ph.D. TOXHUM (Human Toxicology Research Group) and Department of environmental health Faculty of medicine University of Montreal P.O. Box 6128, Main Station Montreal, Quebec Canada H3C 3J7

Telephone: (514) 343-5912 Fax: (514) 343-2200 e-mail address: joseph.zayed@umontreal.ca

#### Abstract

The use of the additive methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl in unleaded gasoline has resulted in increased attention to the potential toxic effects of manganese (Mn). Hypothetically, people with chronic liver disease may be more sensitive to the adverse neurotoxic effects of Mn. In this work, bioaccumulation of Mn, as well as histopathology and neurobehavioral damage in end-to-side portacaval anastomosis (PCA) rats exposed to Mn phosphate via inhalation was investigated. The week before the PCA operation and four weeks after the PCA operation and at the end of exposure the rats were subjected to a locomotor evaluation (day-night activities) using a computerized autotrack system. Then a group of six PCA rats (E) was exposed to 3050  $\mu g \ m^{-3}$  (Mn phosphate) for 8 hr/day, 5 days/week for 4 consecutive weeks and compared to a control group (C). Another group of seven PCA rats were exposed to 0.03  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup>. After exposure, the rats were then euthanized and Mn content in tissues and organs was determined by neutron activation analysis. The manganese concentrations in blood (0.05 μg/g vs 0.02 μg/g), lung (1.32 μg/g vs 0.24 μg/g), cerebellum (0.85 μg/g vs 0.64 μg/g), frontal cortex (0.87  $\mu$ g/g vs 0.61  $\mu$ g/g) and globus pallidus (3.56  $\mu$ g/g vs 1.33  $\mu$ g/g) are significantly higher in the exposed group compared to the control group (p< 0.05). No difference was observed in liver, kidney, testes and caudate-putamen between the two groups. Neuronal cell loss was assessed by neuronal cell counts. The loss of cells in globus pallidus and caudate putamen as well as in frontal cortex was significantly higher (p < 0.05) for E. Assessment of the locomotor activities did not reveal any significant difference, although E seems to show higher values than C. This study constitutes a first step towards our understanding of the potential adverse effects of Mn in sensitive populations.

Key words: Liver disease - Toxicity - Locomotor activities - Tissue manganese concentration - Inhalation exposure.

÷.,,
#### INTRODUCTION

One of the main sources of inorganic Mn contamination in the urban environment is the combustion of the gasoline additive methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT), particularly in areas with high traffic density.<sup>1</sup> It is now well accepted<sup>2,3</sup> that the automotive combustion products of MMT are essentially Mn phosphate, Mn sulfate and a mixture of Mn phosphate / Mn sulfate. Modern automobiles equipped with catalytic converters emit mainly the manganese phosphate form and smaller amounts of sulfates and oxides.<sup>4</sup> The combustion products of MMT depend on fuel composition and engine and catalytic converter thermodynamics. Particle sizes range between 0.2 and 10  $\mu$ m.<sup>5</sup> On average, more than 99 % of the particles were in the respirable fraction (< 5  $\mu$ m) and 86 % were less than 1  $\mu$ m.<sup>6</sup>

28. 我们还能达了一次的时候。如果这些你是我们的时候,你就是这一个时候我们就能是我们就能能帮助你的。我们还不能帮助你。"

Exposure to high concentrations of atmospheric Mn can lead to numerous health problems, especially in the respiratory and neurological systems. Chronic human exposure to high concentrations of manganese containing dust (>1mg Mn/m<sup>3</sup>) has been shown to induce adverse neurological, respiratory, and reproductive effects.<sup>7</sup> Certain subpopulations such as patients with chronic liver disease could be more vulnerable to the neurotoxic effects of Mn since they have a decrease in biliary excretion of a variety of trace metals, including Mn. Little is known on the potential health effects that may result from long-term continuous exposure of these patients to Mn compounds in ambient air at low concentrations. We hypothesise that a relatively high exposure to Mn may be tolerated by normal animals and humans but may lead to an overload and neurological problems in those with hepatic dysfunction.

Studies conducted by our research group<sup>8</sup> have shown that in portacaval anastomosis (PCA) rats not exposed to inhaled Mn, Mn content was increased in globus pallidus by 57% and in caudate putamen by 67% compared with the control group. The relative influence of portal-systemic shunting and cholestasis on Mn accumulation in the brain was also determined in rats with chronic liver failure.<sup>8</sup> In addition, a marked reduction in activity during the dark period was observed in rats with PCA.<sup>9</sup> Chronic exposure to Mn in rodents has been shown to alter brain dopaminergic neurotransmitters<sup>10,11</sup> and inhibits critical enzymes involved in energy production.<sup>12</sup> Manganese in rat brain may interact with other essential metal ions and cause oxidative stress in targeted brain areas.<sup>13,14</sup>

The objective of this pilot study is to assess the inhalation toxicity in PCA animal model. More specifically, it is to evaluate the effects of Mn exposure on the deposition and bioaccumulation of Mn in different tissues, on histological damage to the brain and on the locomotor activity of rats.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

A total of 16 Sprague-Dawley rats were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Saint-Constant, Quebec) at age six weeks. Each rat was initially examined by a veterinarian at St-Luc Hospital and marked with a specific number on its tail. Rats were than housed separately in stainless steel cages for three days of acclimation. For the end-to-side portacaval shunt, surgery was performed according to the method of Therrien and Butterworth.<sup>15</sup> After PCA surgery, three rats died before any exposure. Because of the fact that five weeks after surgery liver function, hemodynamic status and neurologic function are stable, this duration was applied for all rats for acclimation. All procedures involving rats were approved by the Institutional Committee of Animal Care and Use.

#### Rationale for the choice of animal model

Rats were used in this pilot study because they seem to be a useful model for studying Mn exposure and effects. Indeed, chronic Mn exposure through drinking water<sup>16,17</sup>, intrastriatal<sup>18</sup> and intrathecal<sup>19</sup> exposures has been shown to induce motor and other behavioral effects in rats. Inhalation exposure in rats has not been well studied to date, a fortiori in cirrhotic individuals. Furthermore, contrary to mice, a substantia nigra (the region responsible for dopamine synthesis) exists in rats<sup>20</sup> and shows various neurochemical, neuropathological, and neurobehavioral effects resulting from Mn exposure.<sup>21</sup> The animal models described are chosen in view of the fact that they are well-validated models of chronic liver failure which represent the major features of chronic liver

failure in humans. Both the animal models and human cirrhotics manifest a reproducible sequence of neurological impairment starting with altered day-night rhythms<sup>9</sup>

The second second second second

and the second second to

progressing through altered reflexes<sup>22</sup> to stupor and coma.<sup>23</sup> The experimental models chosen result in sustained hyperammonemia<sup>23</sup> and in modifications of astrocytic function including reduced expression of key astrocytic proteins<sup>24</sup> similar to those reported in chronic liver failure in humans. Moreover, of direct pertinence to the present work, both the experimental animal models and human chronic liver failure result in the selective accumulation of Mn in pallidum.<sup>25,26,8</sup>

#### Inhalation exposure

Two groups of 6 and 7 rats were respectively exposed (E) to a mean of 3050  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> of manganese phosphate in the mineral form hureaulite (Mn<sub>5</sub> (PO<sub>4</sub>) <sub>2</sub> (PO<sub>3</sub> (OH)) <sub>2</sub> · 4H<sub>2</sub>O) obtained from Alfa Aesar (Johnson Matthey Company) in a white fine crystalline powder and to a mean of 0.03  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> of ambient atmospheric Mn (C), which is similar to the atmospheric Mn concentration found in residences in Montreal. The level of exposure of 3050  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> is derived from the study of Coulston and Griffin<sup>27</sup> who used 100  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> for 24 h exposure. Thus, 3000  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> (the mean concentration at which we aimed) results from multiplying 100  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> by 3 (24h/8h) and by a correction factor of 10 in consideration of exposure duration. To help in adequately evaluating the dose-response relationship, this first level was then divided by another factor of 10.

For the E group, exposure was conducted in an inhalation chamber over 4 consecutive weeks (duration at which portal-systemic shunting is maximal and at which rats show brain accumulation of Mn and after which the general condition begins to deteriorate), 5 days per week and 8 hours per day. The inhalation chamber is a rectangular stainless steel box (131 cm long, 65 cm wide, 125 cm deep) with a total volume of 1 m<sup>3</sup> (Hazelton Systems Company Inc., Kalamazoo, Michigan). The chamber received filtered air (HEPA) and was maintained at a temperature of  $20 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C and relative humidity 60% ( $\pm$  12 %) throughout the study.

The Mn aerosol particles were generated by a Fluidized Bed Aerosol Generator (Model 3400 TSI Inc., St. Paul, MN 55164) with a flow rate of 9 L/min throughout the study and the concentrations were verified continuously using a Dust Track (model 8520) aerosol monitor. The research done previously in our laboratory using stainless steel ASME Pressure Tanks, which play the role of a cyclone, allowed us to obtain 95% of Mn particles smaller than 3.5µm as shown with a cascade impactor (Table 1).

Since some variability of the air concentrations in different sections of the inhalation chamber could occur, we rotated the positions of the rats every day of exposure. For the C group, exposure was conducted in a second inhalation chamber ( $0.5 \text{ m}^3$ ) in which ambient air (Mn ~  $0.03 \mu \text{g m}^{-3}$ ) was introduced at the same flow rate. For both groups, air samples were collected from the chamber on a routine daily basis to monitor Mn concentration. The sampling system consists of a Gilian pump (Gilian Corp., West Caldwell, N.J.) with standard 3-piece cassettes and 37 mm diameter filters. The filters are

Teflon (manufactured for SKC Inc., Gelman Sciences, Michigan) with 0.45  $\mu$ m pore size. They were changed each day. Pumps were used at a constant flow rate of 1.5 liters per minute and included a size selective cyclone (York respirable dust Sampler # 1U3799) with a cut off point of 5  $\mu$ m. The flow rate was calibrated each day with a Gilibrator (Gilian Corp. West Caldwell, N.J.). Once per week, a cascade impactor was used in order to establish the particle sizes. Mn was analyzed by Instrumental Neutron Activation Analysis (INAA).

Each rat was kept in an individual cage during the non-exposed period and was weighed each week. Food and water were available *ad libitum* when the rats were not exposed, thereby minimizing contamination of the diet. Mn concentrations in food and water were determined by INAA.

#### Locomotor activity, day/night rhythms

Before and after surgery (and before exposure) as well as immediately at the end of exposure, an evaluation of the animals (as reported by Therrien *et al.*<sup>9</sup>) was carried out. The tests included the locomotor activity: day-night rhythms, exploratory activity as well as day time and night time activities. Measurements were done using a computerised autotrack system installed in a quiet room with 12 h light/12 h dark cycles. Individual activity profiles for each rat over the whole 12 h light/dark periods as well as cumulative activity scores were measured as described by Therrien *et al.*<sup>9</sup>

#### Tissue Mn concentrations

After the exposure and after the locomotor evaluation, blood samples were taken from the caudal vein for the determination of the biochemical profile. Rats were then euthanized 48 hours after the end of exposure with halothane, followed by exsanguination. Target tissues (liver, lung, kidney, testis and brain (frontal cortex, pallidum, caudate putamen, cerebellum and globus pallidus) were removed, weighed and dissected. The two brain hemispheres were frozen separately for chemical, biological and morphological analyses. The right hemisphere parts were frozen in two aliquots in order to measure Mn.

#### Chemical analysis

The Mn concentrations in tissues, blood, water, food and filter were measured by INAA<sup>5</sup> using the university's stable neutron flux nuclear reactor and an EG&G ORTEC (model DSPec) digital gamma-ray spectrometer incorporating a high resolution large volume germanium detector. INAA uses no reagents and a minimum of sample handling; contamination is thus easily avoided. The potential interference from Fe has been reduced by irradiating samples in a more thermalized neutron spectrum; it was verified and corrected when necessary for all Mn determinations. The detection limit for Mn determination in biological tissues is 4 ng g<sup>-1</sup> and the precision is 2 ng g<sup>-1</sup> for concentrations between 4 ng g<sup>-1</sup> and 40 ng g<sup>-1</sup>, and 5% of the measured concentration for concentrations above 40 ng g<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Biochemical profile

The biochemical tests were performed by standard techniques for blood glucose, blood urea nitrogen, serum creatinine, bilirubin, transaminases (AST, ALT), alkaline phosphatases, and blood hematocrit and serum iron.

#### Histological evaluation

The parameter investigated in this study was neuronal cell loss, which was determined by neuronal cell counts. Brains were sliced at -20° C in a cryostat and adjacent 20 µm sections mounted on gelatinized slides. For studies of neuronal cell counts, slides were fixed in 10% formalin for 5 min at room temperature and stained with creosyl violet according to previously published protocols.<sup>28</sup> Cell counts were obtained from caudate nucleus, putamen, globus pallidus and frontal cortex (control region) by counting by two investigators and averaging two 1.75 mm<sup>2</sup> grid areas.

#### Statistical analysis

The data for quantitative and continuous variables were compared for the exposed and control groups by tests of homogeneity of variance (Levene's test), one way analysis of variance (ANOVA), T Test for independent comparison and multiple comparison procedure for significant ANOVA (Tukey; Duncon for equal variances assumed: Temphane T2 and T3 for unequal variances assumed). Non parametric tests were achieved as well when Levene's test for homogeneity (p < 0.01) indicated the data to be non homogeneous. The later results for the significant differences between groups were

the same as ANOVA (data not shown). The probability value of less than 0.05 was used as the critical level of significance within each statistical test. Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistical Software.

the states

#### RESULTS

Tissue Mn concentrations are presented in Table 2. Mn concentrations in blood, lung, cerebellum, frontal cortex and globus pallidus were significantly higher in the E group (p < 0.05), but no differences were observed in liver, kidneys, testes and caudate-putamen between the two groups. This was also the case for the biochemical tests, where no significant differences were observed (Table 3).

No significant difference in locomotor activities was observed (Fig. 1), although E seems to show higher values than C (3978 vs 2714 cm). The results of the last dark period were similar to those of the first dark period. For resting time also, no significant difference was observed between the two groups, but both groups showed a significant increase in resting time after PCA and before exposure to Mn (Fig. 2).

Finally, the number of neuronal cells in globus pallidus (800 vs. 510), caudate putamen (840 vs. 500) and frontal cortex (680 vs. 450) were significantly different, p< 0.05 (Fig. 3). This aspect can be observed in the photos (Fig. 4), showing neuronal cells in globus pallidus.</li>

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, hureaulite was chosen because Ressler<sup>3</sup> found that the Mn related to MMT combustion exists in a form similar to hureaulite, which is commercially available in a highly purified form.

The main observation of this study was related to tissue Mn concentrations in brain, mainly in globus pallidus, cerebellum and frontal cortex. The cerebellum seems to be a target site as already observed by Vitarella *et al.*<sup>29</sup>, even if for Pal *et al.*<sup>30</sup> it is not considered as a site of action for Mn induced neurotoxicity.

These general observations are similar to those of Pomier-Layrargues *et al.*<sup>25</sup> and Butterworth *et al.*<sup>26</sup> who demonstrated that Mn deposition occurs in the brain of human cirrhotic patients. The mechanisms of brain Mn deposition include the following: decrease of biliary excretion of Mn in the presence of liver insufficiency, increase of systemic availability of Mn due to the presence of portosystemic collateral bypassing the liver; changes in the blood-brain barrier permeability to Mn.<sup>31</sup> Besides Mn absorption through the respiratory tract, intranasal deposition of Mn may result in initial uptake of the metal through the primary olfactory neurons following inhalation exposure, affecting astrocytes.<sup>32</sup> In contrast to other metals such as cadmium, Mn has been reported to migrate into most parts of the brain following intranasal instillation in rats via transneuronal transport.<sup>33</sup> Mn can thus circumvent the blood-brain barrier and gain direct access to the central nervous system as was recently observed by Vitarella *et al.*<sup>29</sup> where Mn concentration in the olfactory bulb was significantly higher than in the striatum. Unfortunately, the olfactory bulb was not analyzed in our study.

このことがあり、「「「「」」というというななないのかがない。 しいか アイレビルス あんばん いないがみ あめやく こういけい

In our study, lung concentrations (average of 1.32 µg Mn/g) differ considerably from those of Vitarella *et al.*<sup>29</sup> (average of 23.01 µg Mn/g). This difference is quite surprising since the two inhalation studies involved the same chemical Mn species at about the same level ( $\approx$  3 mg/m<sup>3</sup>) and the same duration of exposure per day. A possible explanation could be related to a non instantaneous transfer rate between lung and blood. For instance, if the  $t_2$  in this transfer rate is in the range of 15 to 30 min, the concentration in the lung at equilibrium would be dose dependant as observed by Vitarella *et al.*<sup>29</sup>. Consequently, few hours after the end of exposure would lead to a significant decreased of lung concentration. In fact, in the study of Vitarella *et al.*<sup>29</sup>, tissues were collected immediately following the last inhalation exposure while in our study in our study, tissue collection took place 36 hours after the end of exposure. The delay of 36 hours was required for the assessment of motor activities.

The measurement of day and night time activities provides an evaluation of the day-night rhythm and of locomotor activities, parameters that could be altered in the presence of manganese intoxication or liver insufficiency. In rats with PCA we have observed a marked increased of activity during the dark period because of the surgery even if the difference is not statistically significant. Moreover, at the end of exposure, the activity of E seems to be higher during night even it is not statistically significant. This may be due to the small sample size. A previous report<sup>34</sup> described a positive relationship between pallidal hyperintensity and tremor score in a similar group of cirrhotic patients. Chronic inhalation of manganese in nonhuman primates results in decreased concentrations of dopamine  $D_1$  binding sites in basal ganglia. There is a substantial body of evidence to suggest that effects of manganese on the dopamine system may be responsible for the neurological effects.

Mn exposure also produced a significant effect on loss of cells in globus pallidus and putamen as well as in frontal cortex. It is possible that manganese can move relatively easily between different constituents within the neuronal cells. Donaldson<sup>35</sup> showed a localization of Mn in various cell-rich areas at the base of the cerebral hemisphere, including the basal ganglia. Manganese has an affinity for melanin, which might promote uptake of Mn in the pigmented neurons in the substantia nigra. Therefore, the observed disappearance of cell bodies is evidence of the damage to the substantia nigra.

It has been suggested that combustion of the organomanganese compound MMT (used in gasoline) may be a significant source of exposure to inorganic Mn in urban areas. Mn contamination resulting from the widespread use of MMT leads to higher atmospheric Mn concentrations and could lead to toxic effects especially for susceptible populations with liver disease. It is difficult with this pilot study to arrive at any firm conclusions. Nevertheless, the results represent the first step towards enhancing our knowledge on the contribution of an increase of atmospheric Mn contamination to nervous system deficits in susceptible populations.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Sami Fadlallah, Suzanne Philippe, Jean St-Pierre and France Gagnon for their technical support.

#### REFERENCES

- Zayed J, Vyskosil A, Kennedy G. Environmental contamination and human exposure to manganese - Contribution of Methylcyclopentadienyl Manganese Tricarbonyl (MMT) in unleaded gasoline. Int Arch Occ Environ Health 1999a; 72: 7-13.
- Zayed J, Hong B, L'Espérance G. Characterization of manganese-containing particles collected from the exhaust emissions of automobiles running with MMT additive, Environ. SciTechnol 1999b; 33: 341-346.
- Ressler T, Wong J, Roos J, Smith IL. Quantitative speciation of Mn-bearing particulates emitted from autos burning (methylcyclopentadienyl) manganese tricarbonyl-added gasolines using XANES spectroscopy. Environ Sc Technol 2000; 34(6):950-958.
- 4. Lynman D R, Roos J W, Pfeifer G D, Fort B F, Pullin T G. Environmental effects and exposure to manganese from use of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) in gasoline. Neurotoxicology 1999; 20: 145-150.
- 5. Zayed J, Gerin M, Loranger S, Sierra P, Begin D, Kennedy, G. Occupational and environmental exposure of garage workers and taxi drivers to airborne manganese arising from the use of methylcyclopantadineyl manganese tricarbonyl in unleaded gasoline. Am. Ind. Hyg Assoc J 1994; 55: 53-58.

38

- Ardeleanu A, Loranger S, Kennedy G, Gareau L, Zayed J. Emission Rates and Physico-chemical characteristics of Mn Particles Emitted by Vehicles using MMT as Octane improver. Water, Air and Soil Pollut 1999; 115: 411-427.
- 7. Iregren A. Manganese neurotoxicity in industrial exposure; proof of effects, critical exposure level, and sensitive test. Neurology 1999; 20: 315-323.
- Rose C, Butterworth R F, Zayed J, Normandin L, Todd K, Michalak A, Spahr L, Huet P M, Pomier-Layrargues G. Manganese deposition in basal ganglia structures results from both portal-systemic shunting and liver dysfunction. Gastroenterology. 1999; 117: 640-644.
- 9. Therrien G, Rose C, Butterworth R F. Early loss of day-night rhythms following portacaval anastomosis in the rat, Adv Hepatic Enceph and Metab Nitrogen Exchange. CRC Press. 1995; 304-307.
- Eriksson H, Lenngren S, Heilbornn E. Effect of long-term administration of Manganese on biogenic amine levels in discrete striatal region of rat brain. Arch Toxicol 1987; 59: 426-431.
- Rodriguez V M., Dufour L, Carrizales L, Diaz-Barriga F, Jimenez-Capdeville M
   E. Effects of oral exposure to mining waste on in vivo dopamine release from rat striatum. Environ Health Perspect 1998; 106: 487-491.

 Zheng W, Ren S, Garziano JH. Manganese inhibits mitochondrial aconitase: a mechanism of manganese neurotoxicity. Brain Res 1998; 799: 334-342.

4. Additional testing and the state of the second state of the

- Ali S F, Duhart H M, Newport G W, Slikker W, Jr. Manganese-induced reactive oxygen species: comparison between Mn<sup>+2</sup> and Mn<sup>+3</sup>. Neurodegeneration 1995; 4: 329-334.
- 14. Sloot W, Korf J, Koster J F, De Wit L E, Gramsbergen J B. Manganese-induced hydroxyl radical formation in rat striatum is not attenuated by dopamine depletion or iron chelation in vivo. Exp Neurol 1996; 138: 236-245.
- Therrien G, Butterworth RF. Cerebrospinal fluid amino asides in relation to neurological status in experimental portal-systemic encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis 1991; 6: 65-74.
- Bonilla E. Chronic manganese intake induces changes in the motor activity of rats. Exp Neurol 1984; 84: 696-700.
- Nachtman JP, Tubben RE, Commissaris RL. Behavioral effects of chronic manganese administration in rats: locomotor activity studies. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol 1986; 8: 711-715.

 Inoue N, Tsukada Y, Barbeau A. Behavioral effects in rats following intrastriatal microinjection of manganese. Brain Res 1975; 95: 103-124.

and the second standing of the second standing of the second standing and the second standing of the second standing of

- Ingersoll RT, Montgomery EB Jr, Aposhian HV. Central nervous system toxicity.
   I. Inihibition of spontaneous motor activity in rats after intrathecal administration of manganese chloride. Fundam Appl Toxicol 1995; 27: 106-113.
- Radnikow G, Nisgeld U. Dopamine D1 receptor facilitate GABAA synaptic currents in the rat Substancia Nigra Pars Reticulata. Neurosci 1998; 18: 2009-2016.
- U.S. EPA. Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS). Health risk assessment for manganese. Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Cincinnati, OH. 1993.
- Giguère JF, Butterworth RF. Animo acid changes in regions of the CNS in relation to function in experimental portal-systemic encephalopathy. Neurochem Res 1984; 9(9): 1309-1321.
- 23. Butterworth RF. Portal-systemic encephalopathy: a disorder of multiple neurotransmitter systems. Adv Exp Med Biol 1994; 368: 79-88.

41

- 24. Giguère JF, Hamel E, Butterworth RF. Increased densities of binding sites for the peripheral-type benzodiazepine receptor ligan [3H]OJ11195 in rat brain following portacaval anastomosis, Brain Res 1992; 585: 295-298.
- 25. Pomier-Layrargues G, Spahr L, Butterworth R. F. Increased Manganese concentrations in pallidum of cirrhotic patients. Lancet 1995; 345: 735.
- 26. Butterworth R F, Spahr L, Fontaine S, Pomier-Layrargues G. Manganese toxicity, dopaminergic dysfunction and hepatic and encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis 1995; 4: 259-267.
- Coulston F, Griffin T. Inhalation toxicology of airborne particulate manganese in rhesus monkeys. Report EPA 1977; 600/177-026.
- 28. Todd K G, Butterworth R F. Animal's models of neurological disorders, in vivo neuromethods. Humana Press Inc., New Jersey 1998; 32: 149-175.
- 29. Vitarella D, Wong BA, Moss OR, Dorman DC. Pharmacokinetics of inhaled manganese phosphate in male Sprague-Dawley rats following subacute (14-day) exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharm 2000; 163 (3): 279- 285.
- Pal PK, Samii A, Calne DB. Manganese neurotoxicity: a review of clinical features, imaging and pathology. Neurotoxicology 1999; 20: 227-238.

31. Spahr L, Butterworth R F, Fontaine G S, Bui L, Therrien G, Milette P C, Lebrun L H, Zayed J, Leblanc A, Pomier-Layrargues G. Increased blood manganese in cirrhotic patients: relationship to pallidal magnetic resonance signal hyperintensity and neurological symptoms. Hepatology 1996; 24: 1116-1120.

CONTRACTOR SOUTH

- 32. Henriksson J, Tjälve H. Manganese taken uptake into the CNS via the olfactory pathway in rats affects astrocytes. Toxicol Sc 2000; 55 (2): 392-398.
- 33. Tjälve H, Henriksson J, Talkvist J, Larsson B S, Lindquist N G. Uptake of manganese and cadmium from the nasal mucous into the central nervous system via olfactory pathways in rat. Pharmacology Toxicol 1996; 79: 347-356.
- 34. Pujol A, Pujol J, Graus F, Peri J, Mercader JM., Garcia Pagan JC, et al. Hyperintense globus pallidus on T<sub>1</sub>-weighted MRI in cirrhotic patients is associated with severity of liver failure. Neurology 1993; 43: 65-69.
- 35. Donaldson J. The physiopathologic significance of manganese in brain: Its relation to schizophrenia and neurodegenerative disorders. Neurotoxicology 1987; 8: 451-462.

43

Particle size (µm)	Percentage (%) $\pm$ SD
> 6.0 and < 9.8	$1.5 \pm 0.2$
> 3.5 and < 6.0	$3.5\pm~0.8$
> 1.5 and < 3.5	$4.5 \pm 1.3$
> 0.93 and < 1.5	$13.0 \pm 3.1$
> 0.52 and < 0.93	$47.0\pm7.6$
< 0.52	$20.0 \pm 5.2$
Backup filter	$10.5 \pm 2.2$

Table 1 Mn particle size in the inhalation chamber

n = 5

Tissue	Control group <sup>1</sup> μg/g ± SD	Exposed group <sup>2</sup> μg/g ± SD
Blood	$0.02 \pm 0.01$	$0.05 \pm 0.01*$
Kidney (left)	$1.25 \pm 0.16$	$1.43 \pm 0.13$
Kidney (right)	$1.30 \pm 0.14$	$1.45 \pm 0.14$
Liver	$2.57\pm0.28$	$2.26\pm0.23$
Lung	$0.24\pm0.02$	$1.32 \pm 0.61*$
Testis (right)	$0.45\pm0.05$	$0.45 \pm 0.14$
Testis (left)	$0.48 \pm 0.08$	$0.43 \pm 0.13$
Brain		
Cerebellum	$0.64 \pm 0.06$	$0.85 \pm 0.05*$
Frontal cortex	$0.61 \pm 0.08$	$0.87 \pm 0.07*$
Globus pallidus	$1.33 \pm 0.72$	$3.56 \pm 0.80*$
Caudate putamen	$1.50 \pm 0.06$	$2.18\pm0.92$

(2) 法规则 法规则 法规则 化物理试验的 计可以指示的 计可以分词 计可能分子 化物理学的

#### Table 2 Tissue Mn concentrations

1. S. S. Margaret Mar

\* Significantly different from control (p < 0.05)</li>
1 : n = 7
2 : n = 6

	Control group <sup>1</sup> Mean $\pm$ SD	Exposed group <sup>2</sup> Mean $\pm$ SD
Urea (mmol/L)	$4.41 \pm 0.59$	$4.17 \pm 0.24$
Glucose (mmol/L)	$6.67 \pm 1.32$	$7.86 \pm 1.17$
Creatinine (µmol/L)	$47.14\pm2.91$	$47.50 \pm 3.15$
Bilirubin (µmol/L)	$4.86 \pm 1.07$	$4.17\pm0.75$
Alkaline Phosphate (U/L)	243.43 ± 94.69	$243.83 \pm 59.06$
AST (U/L)*	$112.14 \pm 25.87$	$114.67 \pm 19.22$
ALT (U/L)**	$53.00 \pm 15.06$	$50.50 \pm 7.01$
Sodium (mmol/L)	$140.00\pm0.16$	$139.33 \pm 1.86$
Potassium (mmol/L)	$4.64 \pm 0.55$	$4.67 \pm 0.23$
Hematocrit (%)	$47.86 \pm 1.68$	$47.67 \pm 2.50$

## Table 3 Biochemical parameters

\* Aspartate aminotransferase
\*\* Alanine aminotransferase
1 : n = 7
2 : n = 6

Figure 1 Locomotor activity (distance traveled in cm, Mean  $\pm$  SD) for 12-hour dark period and 12-hour light period



G1 = Exposed and control groups before surgery (PCA) and before exposure ( n = 13 ) G2 = Exposed and control groups after PCA and before exposure (n = 13) G3= Control group four weeks after exposure (n = 7)

G4= Exposed group four weeks after exposure. (n = 6)

White circle: outlier



Figure 2 Resting time (sec, Mean  $\pm$  SD) for 12-hour dark period and 12-hour light period

G1 = Exposed and control groups before surgery (PCA) and before exposure (n = 13) G2 = Exposed and control groups after PCA and before exposure (n = 13) G3 = Control group four weeks after exposure (n = 7) G4 = Exposed group four weeks after exposure (n = 6)

White circle: outlier

Figure 3 Number of neuronal cells in globus pallidus, caudate putamen and frontal cortex (Mean  $\pm$  SD)



Significant difference (p < 0.05) between C and E for all tissues



Figure 4 Neuronal cell in the globus palidus



Magnification: 40 x

## List of figures

**FIG. 1** Locomotor activity (distance traveled in cm, Mean  $\pm$  SD) for 12-hour dark period and 12-hour light period.

FIG. 2 Resting time (sec, Mean  $\pm$  SD) for 12-hour dark period and 12-hour light period.

FIG. 3 Number of neuronal cells in globus pallidus, caudate putamen and frontal cortex (Mean  $\pm$  SD)

FIG. 4 Neuronal cell in the globus palidus

# **CHAPTER III - Discussion and Conclusion**

#### Discussion

The main observation of this study related to bioaccumulation concerned Mn in brain, mainly globus pallidus. The cerebellum and frontal cortex seems also to be a target site as already observed by Vitarella (Vitarella *et al 2000*), even if for Pal (Pal *et al* 1999) it is not considered as a site of action for Mn induced neurotoxicity.

No significant difference was observed for Mn accumulation in caudate putamen, which was expected from a previous study. This observation is similar to those of Pomier-Layrargues *et al.* (1995) and Butterworth *et al.* (1995) who demonstrated that Mn deposition occurs in the brain of cirrhotic patients. The mechanisms of brain Mn deposition include the following: decrease of biliary excretion of Mn in the presence of liver insufficiency, increase of systemic availability of Mn due to the presence of portosystemic collateral bypassing the liver; changes in the blood-brain barrier permeability to Mn (Spahr *et al.* 1996).

Some neurological symptoms linked to cirrhosis could be related, at least in part, to deposits of Mn in the brain, particularly in the globus pallidus. In cirrhotic patients, a high incidence of extrapyramidal symptoms, in particular rigidity, similar to that observed in Parkinson's disease has been observed (Krieger et al 1997). However, region-selective increases in brain manganese deposition were observed in cirrhotic patients and in rats with portacaval shunts.

The results of this study also show that manganese concentration in globus pallidus is higher than in the cerebella, caudate putamen and frontal cortex. Therefore, manganese deposition

53

in brain is a region-selective phenomenon. Following high dose exposure, humans and other primates accumulate manganese primarily in the basal ganglia and other regions that have high iron and neuromelanin-binding capacity (Aschner et al., 1999). The intranasal deposition of Mn may result in initial uptake of the metal through the primary olfactory neurons following inhalation exposure. Mn has been reported to migrate into most parts of the brain following intranasal instillation in rats via transneuronal transport (Tjälve *et al.*, 1996).

There is also evidence that the deposition of Mn in the brain of rats may occur by direct olfactory axonal transport to central nervous system (Tjälve and Henriksson., 1999). In rats, intranasal instillation of MnCl<sub>2</sub> has been shown to result in direct movement of Mn to the olfactory bulb and the telencephalon via transport in secondary olfactory neurons (Gianutsos et al., 1997). Mn can thus circumvent the blood-brain barrier and gain direct access to the central nervous system, one of the Mn target sites. Furthermore, a fraction of inhaled Mn is likely to reach cerebral target sites before hepatic clearance (Roels *et al.*, 1997).

After oral ingestion, Mn is absorbed in the gut, transported to the liver via the portal vein and then eliminated via biliary excretion. Therefore, for both routes of exposure, the liver has a key role in Mn elimination. Decreased biliary excretion could play a role in manganese overload in blood. As a consequence, the cerebral toxicity of Mn may be enhanced even after respiratory exposure in the presence of liver disease due to the decrease in the ability of liver to excrete Mn in the bile. This mechanism could explain the neurological effects observed in this study.

Brain Mn deposition is region-selective, being predominant in the basal ganglia which is involved in the control of movements and of some cognitive functions. Mn deposition in brain, mainly in globus pallidus corresponded to onset of the neurological effect.

In rats, the measurement of day and night time activities provides an evaluation of the daynight rhythm and of locomotor activities, parameters that are altered both in the presence of manganese intoxication or/and liver insufficiency. In rats with portacaval shunts we have observed a marked increased of activity during the dark period. However, the relationship between these changes and the brain manganese accumulation also observed in these models is still unclear. As for the locomotor activities and resting time, there were no significant differences, although E seems to show higher values than C, possibly as a result of the small sample size. The results for resting time showed significant differences after shunting but no significant difference was observed after exposure to Mn.

A previous report described a positive relationship between pallidal hyperintensity and tremor score in a similar group of cirrhotic patients (Pujol et al., 1993). Chronic inhalation of manganese in nonhuman primates results in decreased concentrations of dopamine  $D_1$  binding sites in basal ganglia. There is a substantial body of evidence to suggest that effects of manganese on the dopamine system may be responsible for the neurological effects.

55

Mn exposure also produced a significant effect on loss of cells in globus pallidus and putamen as well as in frontal cortex. It is possible that manganese can move relatively easily between different constituents within the neuronal cells. Donaldson showed a localization of manganese in various cell-rich areas at the base of the cerebral hemisphere, including the basal ganglia (Donaldson, 1987). Manganese intoxication in man may result in degeneration of the substantia nigra. Manganese has an affinity for melanin, which might promote uptake of the metal in the pigmented neurons in the substantia nigra. Therefore, with the observed of disappearance of cell bodies is evidence of the damage to the substantia nigra.

#### Conclusion

It has been suggested that combustion of the organomanganese compound MMT (used in gasoline) may be a significant source of exposure to inorganic Mn in urban areas. Mn is an essential nutrient, but at high levels of exposure it is well recognized as a neurotoxic. Pulmonary toxicity also occurs at high levels of exposure, and developmental toxicity to fetuses is an important concern based on more limited data. Population exposure to Mn from MMT use is expected to be low in most people, but high in certain subpopulations.

Despite Health Canada's determination that the combustion products of MMT in gasoline do not pose an added health risk to the Canadian population (Wood et al., 1995), it is not known what problems may occur if MMT is introduced widely in gasoline supply (Davis, 1998). While limited evidence indicates that general population exposure to Mn from the use of MMT in gasoline are much lower than those encountered in some occupational settings, more data are needed to assess potential health effects. More research is needed to assess health effects in population that may be especially susceptible to Mn toxicity because of unusually high exposure or physiological vulnerability. Such groups include foetuses, children, certain workers (eg, workers involved with the production of MMT, refinery workers, garage mechanics), and the elderly and people with liver disease.

The results of this study represent the first step to enhancing our knowledge on the contribution of an increase of atmospheric Mn contamination to nervous system deficits.

57

There is evidence to suggest that chronic liver insufficiency and portosystemic shunting results in accumulation of manganese in the brain and particularly in the basal ganglia. But there is a poor relationship between cognitive abnormalities associated with hepatic encephalopathy and brain manganese overload. However the occurrence of extrapyramidal disorders is increasingly recognized in cirrhotic patient and there is a rational basis to hypothesize a relationship between manganese accumulation in basal ganglia and the presence of certain cognitive and motor symptoms. It has to be done many researches on neurotoxic effects of manganese in patients with liver diseases in the future and also removing manganese and improving neurological dysfunction in these patients.

## BIBLIOGRAPHY
Akbar-Khanzadeh, F. (1993). Short-term respiratory function changes in relation to work shift welding fume exposures. Int Arc Occup Environ Health. 64, 393-397.

Ali, S. F., Duhart, H. M., Newport, G. W., and Slikker, W., Jr. (1995). Manganeseinduced reactive oxygen species: comparison between  $Mn^{+2}$  and  $Mn^{+3}$ . Neurodegeneration. 4, 329-334.

Ali, M.M., Murthy, R.C., Saxena, D.K. (1983). Effect of low protein diet on manganese neurotoxicity: I. Developmental and biochemical changes. Neurobehav Toxicol Teratol. 5, 377-383.

Archibald, F.S. and Tyree, C. (1986). Manganese poisoning and the attack of trivalent manganese upon catecholamines. Arch Biochem Biophys. 256, 638-650.

Ardeleanu, A., Loranger, S., Kennedy, G., Gareau, L., Zayed, J. (1999). Emission rates and physico-chemical characteristics of Mn particles emitted by vehicles using MMT as octane improver. Water, Air and Soil Pollut. 115, 411-427.

Aschner, M., Vrana, K. E., and Zheng, W. (1999). Manganese uptake and distribution in the central nervous system. Neurotoxicology. 20, 173-180.

ATSDR. (1999). Toxicological profile for manganese. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry.

Butterworth, R. F., Spahr, L., Fontaine S., and Pomier-Layrargues, G. (1995). Manganese toxicity, dopaminergic dysfunction and hepatic and encephalopathy. Metabolic Brain Disease. 4, 259-267.

Calne, D. B., Chu, N. S., Huang, C.C., Lu, C. S., and Olanow, W. (1994). Manganisme and idiooathic Parkinsonism: similarities and differences. Neurology 44, 1583-1586.

Chandra, S.V. (1983). Psychiatric illness due to manganese poisoning. Acta psychiatr Scand 67 (Suppl 303), 49-54.

Cotzias, G.C., Horiuchi, K., Fuenzalida, S., Mena, I. (1968). Chronic manganese poisoning; clearance of tissue manganese concentrations with persistence of the neurological picture. Neurology.18, 376-382.

Davis, J.M., Elias, R.W., Grant, L.D. (1996). Efforts to reduce lead exposure in the United States. In: Mineral and Metal Neurotoxicology, Yasui M, Strong MJ, Ota K, Verity MA, eds., Boca Raton, FL, CRC Press, Inc. 285-293.

Davis, J.M. (1998). Methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl: health risk uncertainties and research directions. Environ Health Perspect. 106, 191-201.

Derelanko, M. J., Hollinger, M. A. (1995). CRC Handbook of Toxicology, edited by Michael J. Derelanko and Mannfred A. Hollinger. CRC Press, p. 643.

Donaldson, J. (1987). The physiopathologic significance of manganese in brain: Its relation to schizophrenia and neurodegenerative disorders. Neurotoxicology. 8, 451-462.

Dorner, K., Dziadzka, S., Hohn, A. (1989). Longitudinal manganese and copper balances in young infants and preterm infants fed on breast-milk and adapted cows milk formulas. Br J Nutr. 61,559-572.

EPA. (1985). U.S.Environmental Protection Agency. Federal register. 50, 32627-32628.

EPA. (1994). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Federal Register. 60,12315.

EPA. (1995). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Federal Register. 60, 36414.

Eriksson, H., Lenngren, S., and Heilbornn, E. (1987). Effect of long-term administration of Manganese on biogenic amine levels in discrete striatal region of rat brain. Arch. Toxicol. 59, 426-431.

Fishman, B.E., Mcginley, P.A., Gianutsos, G. (1987). Neurotoxic effects of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) in the mouse: Basis of MMT-induced seizure activity. Toxicology. 45, 193-201.

Garrison, A.W., Cipollone, M.G., Wolfe, N.L. (1995). Environmental fate of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl. Environ Toxicol Chem. 14, 1859-1864.

Gianutsos, G., Swenberg, J. A., Fields, S., and Popp, J. A. (1997). Accumulation of manganese in rat brain following intranasal administration. Fundam. Appl. Toxicol. 37, 102-105.

Gibbons, R.A., Dixon, S.N., Hallis, K. (1976). Manganese metabolism in cows and goats. Biochim Biophys Acta. 444,1-10.

Gray L.E. Jr and Laskey J.W. (1980): Multivariate analysis of the effects of manganese on the reproductive physiology and behavior of the male house mouse. J Toxicol Environ Health. 6, 861-867.

Hauser, R.A., Zesiewicz, T.A., Martinez, C. (1996). Blood manganese correlates with magnetic resonance imaging changes in patients with liver disease. Can J Neurol Sci. 23, 95-98.

Hurley R.G. Hansen L.A, Guttridge D.L., Gandhi R, Hammerle R, Matzo A. (1992). Effect of mileage on accumulation and emission component durability by the fuel additive methylcycopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT). SAE paper 920730. Society of automotive engineers, Warrendale P.A.

Ibin, S.E., Trotman, J., Musey, P.I. (1992). Depletion of essential elements by calcium disodium EDTA treatment in the dog. Toxicology.73, 229-237.

Iregren, A. (1999). Manganese neurotoxicity in industrial exposure; proof of effects, critical exposure level, and sensitive test. Neurology. 20, 315-323.

Jaques A.P. (1987). Inventoried national des sources ET des emissions de manganese. Report EPA 5/MM.1. Ministry of Supply and services Canada, Ottawa.

Johnson, P.E., Korynta, E.D. (1992). Effects of copper, iron, and ascorbic acid on manganese availability to rats. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 199,470-480.

Joselow, M.M., Tobias, E., Koehler, R., Coleman, S., Borden, J., and Gauze, D. (1978). Manganese pollution in the city environment and its relationship to traffic density. Am. Jape. Health. 68, 557-560.

Kennedy, G. (1990). Trace element determination in polymers by neutron activation. ACS Symposium Series. Washington DC, American Chemical Society. 440, 128-134.

Kilburn CJ. (1987). Manganese, malformations and motor disorder; findings in a manganese exposed population. Neurotoxicology 8,421-429

Komura, J. and Sakamito, M. (1991). Short-term oral administration of several manganese compounds in mice: physiological and behavioral alterations caused by different forms of manganese. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol. 46, 921-928.

Komura, J. and Sakamito, M. (1994). Chronic oral administration of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl altered brain biogenic amines in the mouse: comparison with inorganic manganese. Toxicol Lett. 73, 65-73.

Krieger, S., Jaub, M., Jansen, O., Stiehl, A., Sauer, P., Geibler, M., Theilmann, L., Krieger, D. (1997). MRI findings in chronic hepatic encephalopathy depend on portosystemic shunt: results of a controlled prospective clinical investigation. J Hepatol. 27, 121-126.

Laskey JW, Rehnberg GL, Hein JF, Carter SD. (1982). Effects of chronic manganese  $(Mn_3O_4)$  exposure on selected reproductive parameters in rats. J Toxicol Environ Health 8,677-687

Layrargues, G.P., Shapcott, D., Spahr, L., Butterworth, R.F. (1995). Accumulation of manganese and copper in pallidum of cirrhotic patients: role in the pathogenesis of hepatic encephalopathy. Metab Brain Dis. 10, 353-356.

Lioy, P.J. (1983). Air pollution emission profiles of toxic and trace elements from energy related sources: status and needs. Neurotoxicology 4, 103-112

Loranger S, (1994). Évaluation de la contamination et de l'exposition environnementale au manganèse provenant de la combustion du mèthylcyclopentadiènyle manganèse tricarbonyle (MMT) dans l'essence sans plomb. Thèse de doctorat. Universitè de Montrèal.

Loranger, S. and Zayed, J. (1997). Environmental contamination and human exposure to airborne total and respirable manganese in Montreal. J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc. 47, 983-989.

Loranger, s., Tétreault, M., Kennedy, G., Zayed, J. (1996). Atmospheric manganese and other trace elements in urban snow near an expressway. Environ Pollut. 92, 203-211.

Lynam, D. R., Roos, J. W., Pfeifer, G. D., Fort, B. F., Pullin, T. G. (1999). Environmental effects and exposure to manganese from use of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) in gasoline. Neurotoxicology. 20, 145-150.

Mahoney, J.P., Small, W.J. (1968). Studies on manganese: III, the biological half-life of radiomanganese in man and factors, which affect this half-life. J Clin Invest. 47, 643-653.

Mena, I., Marin, O., Funezalida, S. (1967). Chronic manganese poisoning: Clinical picture and manganese turnover. Neurology. 17, 128-136.

Mergler, D., Huel, G., Bowler, R., Iregren, A., Belanger, S., Baldwin, M., Tardif, R., Smargiassi, A., Martin, L. (1994). Nervous sustem dysfunction among workers with long-term exposure to manganese. Environ Ref. 64, 151-180. Murphy, V.A., Rosenberg, J.M., Smith, Q.R., Rapoport, S.I. (1991). Elevation of brain manganese in calcium deficient rats. Neurotoxicology.12, 255-263.

Nagatomo, S., Umehara, F., Hanada, K., Nobuhara, Y., Takenaga, S., Arimura, K., and Osame, M. (1999). Manganese intoxication during total parenteral nutrition: Report of two cases and review of the literature. J.Neurol. Sci. 162, 102-105.

Nelson K, Golnick J, Korn T, Angle C. (1993). Manganese encphalopathy: utility of early magnetic resonance imaging. Br J Ind Med 50,510-513

Newland MC, Ceckler TL, kordower JH, Weiss B. (1989). Visualizing manganese in the primate basal ganglia with magnetic resonance imaging. Exp Neurol. 106,251-258

Nogawa et al. (1973). Epidemiological studies on disturbance of the respiratory system caused by manganese air pollution. Report 1: Effects on respiratory system of junior high school students. Jpn J Public Health. 20, 315-326.

Olanow, C.W., Good, P.F., Shinotoh, H. (1996). Manganese intoxication in the rhesus monkey: a clinical, imaging, pathologic, and biochemical study. Neurology. 46, 492-498.

Pal, P.K., Sami, A., and Calne, D.B. (1999). Manganese neurotoxicity: A review of clinical features, imaging and pathology. Neurotoxicology. 20, 227-238.

Pomier-Layrargues, G., Spahr, L., Butterworth, R. F. (1995). Increased manganese concentrations in pallidum of cirrhotic patients. Lancet. 345, 735.

Prohaska, J.R. (1987). Functions of trace elements in brain metabolism. Physiol. 67, 858-910.

Pujol, A., Pujol, J., Graus, F., Peri, J., Mercader, JM. Garcia Pagan, JC., et al. (1993). Hyperintense globus pallidus on  $T_1$ -weighted MRI in cirrhotic patients is associated with severity of liver failure. Neurology. 43, 65-69.

Rodier J. (1955). Manganese poisoning in Moroccan miners. Br J Ind Med. 12, 21-35.

Rodriguez, V. M., Dufour, L., Carrizales, L., Diaz-Barriga, F., and Jimenez-Capdeville,M. E. (1998). Effects of oral exposure to mining waste on in vivo dopamine release fromrat striatum. Environ. Health Perspect. 106, 487-491.

Roels, H.A., Ghyselen, P., Buchet, J.P., Ceulemans, E., Lauwerys, R.R. (1992). Assessment of the permissible exposure level to manganese in workers exposed to manganese dioxide dust. Br J Ind Med. 49, 25-34.

Roles, H.A., Meiers, G., Delos, M. (1997). Influence of the route of administration and the chemical form ( $MnCl_2$ ,  $MnO_2$ ) on the absorption and cerebral distribution of manganese in rats. Arch Toxicol. 71, 223-230.

÷.

Rose, C., Butterworth, R. F., Zayed, J. Normandin, L., Todd, K., Michalak, A., Spahr, L., Huet, P. M. and Pomier-Layrargues, G. (1999). Manganese deposition in basal ganglia structures results from both portal-systemic shunting and liver dysfunction. Gastroenterology. 117, 640-644.

Sandstrom, B., Davidsson, L., Eriksson, R. (1986). Manganese absorption and metabolism in man. Acta Pharmacol Toxicol. 59, 60-62.

Segura-aguilar, J., Lind, C. (1989). On the mechanism of the Mn<sup>+3</sup> induced neurotoxicity of dopamine: prevention of quinone-derived oxygen toxicity by DT diaphorase and superoxide dismutase. Chem Biol Interact. 72, 309-324.

Sierra, P., Loranger, S., Kennedy, G., Zayed, J. (1995). Occupational and environmental exposure of automobile mechanics and nonautomobile workers to airborne manganese arising from the combustion of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT). Am Ind Hyg Assoc J. 56, 713-716.

Sloot, W., Korf, J., Koster, J. F., De Wit, L. E., and Gramsbergen, J. B. (1996). Manganese-induced hydroxyl radical formation in rat striatum is not attenuated by dopamine depletion or iron chelation in vivo. Exp. Neurol. 138, 236-245.

Spahr, L., Butterworth, R. F., Fontaine, G. S., Bui, L., Therrien, G., Milette, P. C., Lebrun, L. H., Zayed, J., Leblanc, A., Pomier-Layrargues, G. (1996). Increased blood

manganese in cirrhotic patients: relationship to pallidal magnetic resonance signal hyperintensity and neurological symptoms. Hepatology. 24, 1116-1120.

Sumino K, Hayakawa K, Shbata T, Kitamura S. (1975). Heavy metals in normal Japanese tissues: amounts of 15 heavy metals in 30 subjects. Arch Environ Health. 30, 487-494.

Thompson TN, Klaassen CED. (1982). Oresystemic elimination of manganese in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol. 64, 236-243.

Therrien, G., Butterworth, R.F. (1991). Cerebrospinal fluid amino asides in relation to neurological status in experimental portal-systemic encephalopathy. Metabolic Brain disease. 6, 65-74.

Therrien, G., Rose, C., and Butterworth, R. F. (1995). Early loss of day-night rhythms following portacaval anastomosis in the rat, Adv. Hepatic Enceph and Metab. Nitrogen Exchange. CRC Press. 304-307.

Tjälve, H., and Henriksson, J. (1999). Uptake of metals in the brain via olfactory pathways. Neurotoxicology. 20, 401-406.

Tjälve, H., Henriksson, J., Talkvist, J., Larsson, B. S., and Lindquist, N. G. (1996). Uptake of manganese and cadmium from the nasal mucous into the central nervous system via olfactory pathways in rat. Pharmacology. Toxicol. 79, 347-356

Todd, K. G., Butterworth, R. F. (1998). Animal's models of neurological disorders, in vivo neuromethods. Humana Press Inc., New Jersey. 32, 149-175.

Vitarella, D., Wong, B.A., Moss, O.R., Dorman, D.C. (2000). Pharmacokinetics of inhaled manganese phosphate in male Sprague-Dawley rats following subacute (14-day) exposure. Toxicol Appl Pharm. 163, 279-285.

Wallace L. and Sloneker T. (1997). Ambient air concentrations of fine (PM2.5) manganese in U.S. national parks in California and Canadian cities: the possible impact of adding MMT to unleaded gasoline. J Air Waste Manage Assoc 47:642-652

Wedler, F.C., Denman, R.B. (1985). Glutamine synthetase: the major Mn (II) enzyme in mammalian brain.24, 153-169.

Wennberg, A., Iregren, A., Struwe, G. (1991). Manganese exposure in steel smelters a health hazard to the nervous system. Scand J work Environ Health. 17, 255-262.

Wood, G., Egyed, M. (1995). Risk assessment for the combustion products of Methylcyclopentadienyl Manganese Tricarbonyl (MMT) in Gasoline. Ottawa, Ontario: Environmental Health Directorate, Health Canada.

Zayed, J., Hong, B., and L'Espérance. G. (1999). Characterization of manganesecontaining particles collected from the exhaust emissions of automobiles running with MMT additive, Environ. Sci.Technol. 33, 341-346.

Zayed, J., Gerin, M., Loranger, S., Sierra, P., Begin, D., and Kennedy, G. (1994). Occupational and environmental exposure of garage workers and taxi drivers to airborne manganese arising from the use of methylcyclopantadineyl manganese tricarbonyl in unleaded gasoline. Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J. 55, 53-58.

Zayed, J., Pitre, J., Rivard, M., Loranger, S. (1998). Evaluation of pollutant emissions related to the use of methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) in gasoline. Water Air Soil Pollut. In press.

Zayed, J., Vyskocil, A., Kennedy G. (1998). Environmental contamination and human exposure to Manganese contribution of metholcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl in unleaded gasoline. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 72, 7-13.

Zayed, J., Thibault, C., Gareau, L., and Kennedy, G. (1999b). Airborne manganese particulates and methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) at selected outdoor sites in Montreal. Neurotoxicology. 20, 151-157

Zheng, W., Ren, S., and Garziano, J.H. (1998). Manganese inhibits mitochondrial aconitase: a mechanism of manganese neurotoxicity. Brain Res. 799, 334-342.